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BILL TO ESTABLISH A SYSTEM OF PERMANENT PER-
SONAL REGISTRATION WHICH MAY BE ADOPTED ON

AN OPTIONAL BASIS BY THE CITY OF NEW YORK OR
BY ANY COUNTY OUTSIDE SUCH CITY

In 1938 the people of the State of New York approved an amend-
ment to the Constitution which authorized the Legislature to provide
a system of permanent personal registration. Durlng the fifteen
years that have passed since that action, a considerable amount of
research has been conducted by interested parties; numerous bills
providing for various plans of permanent personal registration have
been introduced into the Legislature; and the issue has been vigor-
ously debated, publicly, and in legislative committees. To date
enabling legislation has not yet been enacted.

Your Committee, after its organization, corresponded on shveral
occasions with election and registration officials of all of the states
and more than seventy-five of the larger cities in these states, where
a system of permanent personal registration is in effect, requesting
copies of statutes, reports, data and forms used in such states and
cities; also asking for their views on the administration of the law
in effect in such states and cities and for their zxperiences in regard
to fraudulent registration under their respective systems.

A detailed and exacting study was made of the different systems
of permanent personal registration in ef«ct in such states and cities,
including such important questions as to the information to be
recorded on registration cards, registration lists, police and other
checks, cancellation of registratiow for failure to vote, transfer of
registration, investigation and vancellation of prior registration, the
use of a serial number for registrants, and many other ecomplicated
administerial problems which go together to make up the composite
picture of establishing & system of permanent personal registration.

The Staff studied the previous bills introduced in the New York
State Legislature aind also the reports filed by previous committees
on this subject.

Considerable time was required in the study of the registration
cards and ciher forms. Forms used by cities or counties in other
states were examined as a basis for the form of the registration card
to be prepared for use in the proposed system in thls State. Much
time was spent in consultation with representatives of Remmgton
Rand Company, Inc. and International Business Machines Corp. in
connection with the proposed form of registration card, the indices
and equipment .necessary for the administration of such a system.
Considerable correspondence was also had with the Post Index
Company of Jamestown, N. Y., Remington Rand Company and
International Business Machines Corporation, manufacturers and
distributors, concerning the cost of registration cards, registration
equipment and the many items involved in setting up a system
such as proposed by your Committee.

The Committee and its Staff held sessions on many occasions for
the purpose of planning proposed legislation setting up an optional
system of permanent personal registration.
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Counsel to the Committee visited the offices of the Board of Elec-
tions in New York City, Westchester County and Nassau County
and consulted with election commissioners for the purpose of com-
paring the administration of the present law with the administra-
tion details and problems under an optional system of permanent
personal registration. In addition, the Staff corresponded with
election officials of other counties for the same purpose.

At the request of the Committee and its Staff, William D. Meisser,
Commissioner of Elections, Nassau County and Consultant to your
Committee, visited the cities of Columbus, Ohio; Kansas City, Mis-
souri; St. Louis, Missouri; Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Milwaukee,
Wisconsin and Detroit, Michigan, where a system of permanent
personal registration has been and is in effect. Commissioner Meisser
visited the offices of the various Boards of Election and registra-
tion boards in such cities and inspected their records and equipment.
He also consulted the election officials in such ecities regarding the
administration of their systems. Commissioner Meisser procured
forms of registration cards, data and other relevant forms and also
pertinent information as to the cost of equipiznt. Commissioner
Meisser prepared a detailed report covering questions of initial
registration, transfer of registration, cancellation of registration,
registration boards, absentee ballots, registration lists and pro-
cedure of voting. All of these reports and data were considered
by the Staff and members of your Committee prior to the prepara-
tion of the Committee’s bill.

As indicated in another portion of this report, public hearings
were held by this Commitice to which representatives of civie
organizations, political parties, boards of election and industrial
groups were invited fo attend. Among other things, the subject
of an optional system of permanent personal registration was dis-
cussed at great lengih.

On December 238 and 29, 1953, the Committee and its Staff met
in New York ('ity for the purpose of discussing at length provisions
of the proposed bill and at such time also reviewed the minutes of
the public hearings conducted by the Committee.

After the aforesaid exhaustive study of statutes of other states
and cities, and experiences with the law in such states and cities,
and after consideration of voluminous data, examination of bills
previously introduced in the New York State Legislature and
reports of legislative committees on this subject, the Staff of your
Committee prepared a bill establishing a system of permanent per-
sonal registration in the City of New York and the counties of the
State on an optional basis by local action. The bill will permit an
expression of home rule on the subject and the majority of the
Committee believes it is in the public interest that it authorize the
adoption of such a system by local governments which desire to
utilize it and can afford its costs.

The bill is very simple and easy to administer. A new article sets
forth the applicable provisions for a system of permanent per-
sonal registration, wherever adopted. As few amendments as possi-
ble to provisions of the existing Election Law have been made in
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order to avoid confusien in the localities which do not adopt the
system and will still operate under the present law. Many sections
of the present law pertaining to subjects other than registration
will still be applicable where the system is adopted and therefore
reference to existing sections of the statute in the new article will
make the system more simple to administer than if theré were a
repetition verbatim of many of the éxisting seetions in the new
article.

The bill containg adeguate safeguards and ifivéstigative and
reporting procedures covering all the cheeks against fraudulent
ptactices recommended in the report of Dr. Robert F. Ray which
was submitted to Governor Dewey on January 31, 1952. His report
was a comprehensive and seientific study of permanent personal
registration and was conducted at the reéquest of Governor Déwey.
This survey reflected his research in the cities of Chicago; Los
Angeles, San Francisco, Detroit, Cleveland, Philadelphii, Boston,
New York and other sections of the country all of which ecities,
except New York, employéd then and presently emnioy a system of
permanent personal registration.

The bill sponsored by a majority of the Cammittee affords the
individual citizen maximum opportunity to exercise the privilege of
the franchise. It is obvious that no registration law can be a ‘‘cure-
all’” but it is believed that the bill propesed by a majority of the
Committee establishes an effective and satisfactory system of regis-

tration. , ) . o
FUTURE WORK. OF COMMITTEE

While your Committee haz recommended many changes in the
Election Law, nevertheless, a substantial amount of its work still
remains to be completed.

Your Committee will continue dutiig the present session to study
all proposed amendmeats to the Election Law and other laws per-
taining to the eleetive frahchise. The Cominitteée desirés to hold
further hearinesin various parts of the Siate with local répresenta-
tives of agencies interested in the administration and enforeement
of the Election Law in order to discuss ways and means of eliminat-
ing uniecessary details, promote greater simplicity and uniformity
in the forms and reports required, eliminate unnecessary expense
in such matters and receive suggestions for proposed amendments
to the law. '

Your Committee also is of the opinion that it ecan be of assistance
to those counties which adopt a systein of permanént personal
registration, the officials of which, after their experience with such a
system, will be in a position to recommend possible changes to
improve the administration of the system.

CONCLUSION

A major portion of the legislative proposals recommended by
the Committee are for the improvement of election and party pro-
cedures. They are designed to encourage a more active participa-
tion by voters in elections and party affairs.
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The Committee is proud of the faet that its recommendations
represent progress and achievement from the standpoint of
~ improved Election Law machinery. It has approached the prob-
lems affecting the elective franchise in a manner designed to elimi-
nate technicalities and to bring about a maximum exercise of the
elective franchise by voters.

Having in mind one of the purposes of this Commlttee is to bring
up to date the provisions of the Election Law of the State of New
York and other related statutes in accordance with modern needs,
the Committee believes that the tasks assigned to it cannot be com-
pletely performed at this session. If this session of the Legislature
enacts the Committee bill to establish a system of permanent per-
sonal registration on an optional basis, your Committee feels that
it will have accomplished a great deal.

Your Committee respectfully suggests that it be continued with
all of its powers and duties for another year. All of the officials,
groups and civic representatives charged with the administration
of the Election Law, who have appeared befcre your Committee,
have urged that the work of this Commirtee be continued. The
following excerpt from a resolution adepted by the Election Com-
missioners’ Association of the State of New York, dated February
9, 1954, to Hon. Thomas E. Dewcy and the 1eglslat1ve leaders
follows-

““WaeREAS, The Electisr Commissioners’ Association of the
. State of New York is now in session at the 38th annual winter
meeting at the DeWitt Clinton, Albany, New York, and * * *
“To the members of the Joint Legislative Committee we
extend our sincere thanks for the manner in which they have
conducted their public hearings on permanent personal regis-
tration and for their efforts in proposing legislation that may
improve our present system and we recommend to the Legis-
lature of this State and the Governor the continuance of the
bi-paitisan legislative committee on election matters.”’

All of which is respectfully submitted,

J. EueENE Gopparp, Chairman
Hexry Nuppo, Vice-Chairman
RoBerT G. MAIN

Frank 8, McCurLouen

Albany, New York, March 1, 1954
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APPENDIX

BILLS SPONSORED BY THE COMMITTEE OR
BY A MAJORITY OF THE COMMITTEE

(All sections refer to the Election Liaw unless otherwise indicated.)

Sees. 15, 108 and 136: 8. Int. 2485, S. Pr. 2650, by Marro; A. Int.
2830 A. Pr. 3445, by Main. :

Re Section 15:

Seetion 15 is being amended so as to create subdivisions 1 and 2
out of the existing unnumbered paragraphs.

The purpose of new subdivision 3 of section 15 is to provide for
the direct election of district leaders within any county in the. ecity
of New York.

The organization and control of political parties is governed by
the Klection Law except to the extent that it is left te party rules.
One of the matters now left to the rules is the metkod of selecting
district leaders and co-leaders, but there is no statntory authority to
provide for their election at the polls unless they are made to
coincide with State committeemen, as in the Democratic Party in
Jrooklyn. The names of candidates for leadership do not appear
on the primary ballot. At the present time it is necessary for the
enrolled voters to determine which of the county committeemen
candidates whom they wish to suppert in their election distriet
are pledged to a particular candidaie for leader.

This is a permissive provision 2od provides that if the rules of the
county eommittee shall so provide, one district leader and one
associate distriet leader shall be elected at primary elections for
each Assembly distriet, or-part of an Assembly district, as may
be designated in such rules for the purpose. In New York County,
there are district leadzrs in both of the major parties for entire
Assembly districts, and in some cases for parts of Assembly dis-
triets. The bill further provides that the distriet leader or associate
district leadexr shall be of opposite sexes, shall be enrolled voters
of the party residing within the district and shall be elected at the
same priivary election and for the same term as members of the
county committee.

The bill further provides (a) that the said distriet leader or
associate district leader shall perform such duties, powers and fune-
tions as the rules of the county committee may prescribe; (b)
vacancies in such positions shall be filled by the members of the
county committee within the Assembly distriet or part thereof as the
case may be; (e) district leaders and associate district leaders shall
not he members or vote in meetings of the county committee or any
sub-committee .thereof unless also duly elected to membership
thereon.

Re Section 108, subdivisions 3 and 5:

Subdivisions 3 and 5 preseribe presently the form of the primary
ballot and are being amended as to language to make provision for
the party positions of Assembly district leader and associate Assem-
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bly district leader provided for in new subdivision 8 of section 15
herein.

Re Section 136, subdivision 2:

This subdivision is being amended so as to make provision as to
the number of signatures required to designate a candidate for
Assembly district leader or associate Assembly district leader; it
is proposed that the number of signatures as is now required for
candidates for the position of delegate to a State convention or
judicial district convention or member of the State committee shall
also apply to the party position of Assembly district leader or asso-
ciate Assembly district leader.

Sec. 17, sub. 3: 8. Int. 2554, S. Pr. 2719, by Neddo; A. Int. 2920,
A. Pr. 3044, by Travia.

The statute now provides that when vacancies exist in the county
committee by reason of an increase of the number of election dis-
tricts within the county, occasioned by a chauge of the boundaries
or the formation of one or more election districts, the county com-
mittee, upon its organization after the election of its members, may
determine the districts which the menbers so elected shall represent
for the remainder of their terms. ’

Under the present language of the statute, questions have arisen
as to whether the county commitice may also act under the following
circumstances:

(&) at any time ajter ils organizalion

(b) when there is a decrease of the number of election dis-
tricts

(¢) when there is an abolition of the election distriets

In order to vemove all doubt, the amendments are being proposed.
There will he changes in the boundaries, as well as an increase and
decrease ot election districts in many counties as a result of the
recent reapportionment act requiring changes of existing Assembly
distzict lines.

Sees. 79, 187, 291 and 294 : S. Int. 223, S. Pr. 223, by Neddo; A. Int.
241, A. Pr. 241, by Travia.

Re Section 79:

This amendment authorizes the board of elections to inerease
the amount that may be charged for a ward pamphlet containing
the list of registered voters from 10¢ to $1.00 a copy and for an
Assembly distriet pamphlet from 25¢ to $1.50 a copy. It is to be
noted that the amount of the charge is permissive and not manda-
tory. The amounts now in the law were fixed many years ago
(in 1922 or prior thereto). The cost of printing such pamphlets
has increased considerably, primarily due to the short period of time
in which they must be produced, thereby making it necessary to
pay the printers overtime. Boards of election have indicated that
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the proposed inerease in the amounts will be consistent with present
day costs for material and labor in preparing and printing such
pamphlets.

Re Section 187:

Two very minor amendments are being made to this seetion. In
subdivision 1 the word ‘‘fall’’ is being substituted for the word
“full”’ to correct an obvious error.

There are now two subdivisions ‘“2;”’ the law is being amended
so that the second subdivision ‘27’ is made subdivision “‘3’’ and
the subsequent subdivisions are likewise being changed to conform.

Re Sections 291 and 294 :

These sections are being amended to conform to changes made
in the Federal law, U. S. C. Title 3, Chapter 1, sections 6 ard 11
" in relation to the furnishing of lists of electors. Formerly such lists
were sent to the Secretary of State of the United States. However,
due to changes in the Federal law mentioned above, such lists are
now required to be sent to the Administrator of General Services
of the United States.

Sec. 102-a: S. Tnt. 1384, S. Pr. 1466, by Marro; A. Int. 1549, A. Pr.
1590, by Goddard.

This amendment suspends until Julv 1, 1955, provisions of the
Election Law specifying the weight and anality of paper upon which
official ballots must be printed. A similar provision was enacted
throughout World War II as a war-time measure and up to and
including the 1953 Legislative Session.

The boards of election have indicated that the type of paper
required by law is still difhieult to obtain.

Secs. 105, 120 and 248: &, Int. 2723, S. Pr. 3190, by Rules; A. Int.
3161 A. Pr. 3709, by Rules.

At the generai election in 1953, the people approved a consti-
tutional amendment providing for the joint election of governor and
lieutenant-governor by the casting by each voter of a single vote
applicable to both offices (Article IV, Section 1). This bill imple-
ments such constitutional amendment,

Re Section 105:

The form of paper ballot when used on Election Day in the
event the machine breaks down is being amended to show the offices
of governor and lieutenant-governor in one section. Appropriate
Janguage is being inserted to carry out the purpose of the constitu-
tional amendment.

Re Section 120:

The form of absentee ballot is belng amended to show the ofﬁees
of governor and lieutenant-governor in one column.
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Re Section 248:

The form of ballot on the voting machine is being amended to
show the candidates for governor and licutenant-governor in one
column, Appropriate language is being added to carry out the
purpose of the aforesaid constitutional amendment by providing
that the voting machines shall be so adjusted that the candidates
for governor and lieutenant-governor appear in one column and
that the casting of a single vote shall be applicable to both such
offices.

Secs. 135 and 138 S. Int. 2693, S. Pr. 3328, by McCullough; A. Int.
2763, A. Pr. 3803, by Goddard.

The purpose of these amendments is to simplify the procedure
for obtaining valid designating and independent nominating peti-
tions and to eliminate provisions in the existing law which have
caused the invalidation of petitions due to technicalities and striet
judicial construction.

Re Section 135:
Subs. 1 and 2:

There are several minor amendments in these subdivisions as to
language and punctuation.

Sub. 3:

In lieu of an authenticating affidavit by the subseribing witness
as to the signatures on tha petition, there is being substituted a
‘‘statement of witness.”" It is provided that such ‘‘statement
of witness’ shall be accepted for all purposes as the equivalent
of an affidavit, and if false shall subject the witness to the same
penalties as if he had been duly sworn. This amendment will elimi-
nate the invalidacion of many petitions due to faulty jurats, failure
to fill in the date of swearing, failure to appear before a notary

publie, ete.

Re Ssetion 138:

Subs. 1 and 6:

In the past, many independent petitions have been invalidated
on the ground that the signers of the petition failed to register for
the ensuing election as provided by the existing provisions of sub-
division 4 of this section. This provision is being eliminated and
there is being substituted in subdivision 6 of this bill a provision
that the signer of an independent petition in order to be qualified
to sign same must be registered at the time of the last preceding
general election.

The election district of the signer’s residence at such preceding
election is required to be filled in on the petition as proposed in sub-
division 1, instead of the election district effective on the first day
of local registration as presently required in subdivision 1, and
the reason for such change is as follows: election districts are never
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changed from the previous general election throughout the period
when independent petitions are signed. Very often, such election
districts are changed, effective on October 1, which is subsequent
to the period of signing independent petitions. Oectober 1 is usually
the approximate date when local registration either has commenced
or is about to commence. Many signatures on independent peti-
tions are usually therefore invalidated when there has been a
change in a signer’s election distriet, effective at the ensuing local
registration, and such change is not known to the signers or circu-
lators of the petition. They usually fill in the old election distriet
which, if it has been changed, is fatal because section 138, first
paragraph now prescribes that the election district of the signer
to be filled in the petition shall be the election distriet effective on
the first day of local registration.

New sub. 2:

The form and contents of the independent petition are being
changed and set forth at length so as to conform to all of the pro-
posed amendments,

New sub. 3:

A ‘“‘statement of witness’’ is being substituted for an affidavit
of a subscribing witness and also it is proposed that such state-
ment shall be accepted for all purposes as the equivalent of an
affidavit. This will earry out the same ameiidment as is proposed in
this bill to section 135.

There has been some doubt in the st as to whether the election
district or the Assembly district of the subseribing witness’s present
residence was required to be staied in the affidavit (now becoming
a statement of witness). In order to avoid such confusion, it is
provided that the eleetion distriet or the Assembly district wherein
the witness presently resides need not be sef forth in the statement
of the witness. Such iuformation serves no useful purpose and is
unmnecessary.

New sub. 4:

The matter in subdivision 4 is contained .in the present sub-
division 3.

New subs. 5 and 6:

The matter in subdivisions 5 and 6 is substantially the same as
in present subdivision 4 except: (a) it is proposed that an independ-
ent petition must be signed by voters numbering five per centum
of the total number of votes cast for governor within the political
unit involved instead of seven per centum, as now required; (b)
see explanation on previous pages under subdivisions 1 and 6 of
section 138 for an explanation of the proposed amendment in sub-
division 6.

New sub. 7

The matter contained in this subdivision is the same as now
appears in present subdivision 4 at the end thereof.
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New Section 138-a:

Very often signers of petitions do not sign their full name as
required by statute and the courts have held that the signatures
are therefore invalid. This new section provides that the use of
titles, initials or customary abbreviations of given names by the
signers of designating or independent nominating petitions shall
not invalidate such signatures provided that the identity of the
signer as a registered voter can readily be established by reference
to the signature on the petition and that of a person whose name
appears In the register of voters for the last preceding general
election,

The proposed amendments to sections 135 and 138 will result
in more valid designating and independent petitions and par-
ticularly ease present restrictions against independent petitions.

Sec. 153, new sub. 5: 8. Int. 2722, S. Pr. 2951, by Rules; A. Int.
3162, A. Pr. 3366, by Rules.

Under the existing provisions of section 153, subdivision 3 of the
Election Law, the meetings for personal registration in the year
1954 in New York City and Westchester County would be from
October 4th to the 9th, inclusive. This year the Jewish Holiday
of Day of Atonement (Yom Kippur) is on October 7. This holiday
begins at sundown on October 6. < Imasmuch as many inspectors of
the Jewish faith will be unavailable to serve in the evening on
October 6th, as well as on Cctober Tth, and also many voters of
Jewish faith will be unablc i register on these days, it is proposed
to change the registration days this year so that same do not con-
fliet with the aforesaid holiday. The proposed registration days
will be as follows:

Thursday, September 30
Friday, October 1
Monday, October 4
Taesday, October 5
'riday, October 8
Saturday, October 9

The registration hours on weekdays and on Saturday will be the
same as now provided by law.

It should be noted that in the past, bills to accomplish the same
purpose were enacted into law: Chapter 71, Laws of 1951 ; Chapter
275, Laws of 1948; Chapter 397, Laws of 1943 ; Chapter 496, Laws
of 1940. 1In the years 1951, 1943 and 1940 the registration days
were split so that some of the days of registration were in one weck
and the other days of registration were in the following week.

The bill also repeals existing subdivision 5 of section 153 which
fixed the times for meetings of personal registration for the year
1951 in the city of New York and the county of Westchester. This
provision is now obsolete.
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Sec. 157-a: S. Int. 195, 8. Pr. 195, by McCullough; A. Int. 340,
A. Pr. 340, by Main.

This section pertains to the removal of names from registers in
non-personal registration election districts of persons who have
failed to vote at a general election during a four-year period.

Several minor amendments are being made for clarity. Also, the
words ‘‘Register of Voters’ are being substituted because the sub-
stituted words are the proper term. There is no such term as a
“voting list.””

The law at the present time prescribes September 15, and also
September 20 as the last date on which the application for continu-
ance of the name on the register shall be received. This was an
obvious error and is being corrected by changing the dates to read
September 15. The boards of election have requested the earlier
date, namely September 15, in order to give them more time before
the first day of local registration to make a necessary enivy in the
register after receiving an application for the continuance of the
name on the register.

It is proposed that this act shall take effect May i, 1954 because
all of the boards of election affected by this provision of law have
already printed their forms and have been mailing them out since
January 1, 1954,

Sec. 176 : §. Int. 194, 8. Pr. 194, by McCuliough; A. Int. 198, A. Pr.
198, by Goddard.

On many occasions during the period of local registration, a voter
is registered, through no fault of his own, in the wrong election
district.

The law at the present timie permits the board of eleetions, upon
the application of the vo'er in person, to strike the voter’'s name
from the register of the district in which he was wrongly registered
and to direct that he be registered in the proper election district.

The purpose of the amendment is to permit an application for
such correction to be made also by the inspectors of election in the
district where such voter was wrongly registered or by the eentral
registration hoard having jurisdiction with respect to such district
in case the registration was by such registration board.

Very often the voter who is wrongly registered is unaware of
same. Inasmuch as the error was made in the first instance by the
inspeectors of election or the central registration board who regis-
tered the voter in the wrong election district, it seems that the same
inspectors or central registration board should also have the right
to apply to the board of elections to correct the wrong registration.

A similar bill passed both houses in 1953 (S. Int. 745, S. Pr. 778)
but the bill was vetoed by the Governor because it failed to contain
a provision directing the board to give notice to the voter whose
registration had been transferred to the proper election district.
The present bill makes a provision for such notice and also requires
the board to inform the voter of the location of the polling place
of the new election district.
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Sees. 330, sub. 2 and 331, sub. 1: 8. Int. 268, S. Pr. 268, by Marro;
A. Int. 199, A. Pr. 199, by Goddard.

Re Section 330, sub. 2:

There is no provision at the present time which specifies within
what period of time following a convention, a proceeding must be
instituted to contest a nomination made at a convention. The
present provision only refers to a proceeding with respect to a
nomination made at a primary election. The words ‘‘or convention”’
are being added.

A similar bill carrying out the above amendment passed both
houses in 1953. The bill, however, was vetoed by the Governor
because the words ‘‘or convention’’ were omitted in one instance
at the end of the first sentence.

Re Section 331, sub. 1:

A registration board sometimes unlawfully refuses to register a
qualified voter. This section permits an application to be made
to the court to compel the registration of such 2 voter. At the
present time, the court is required to order the voard of inspectors
to reconvene for the purpose of registering such a voter on fhe
second Saturday before Election Day. The underlined matter is
being deleted and there is being subs’ituted therefor ‘‘at a time
specified in such order.”” Many hoards of election have indicated
that the courts often do not enter their order until subsequent
to the second Saturday before Election Day. The proposed amend-
ment will permit the court t¢ reconvene on the second Saturday
before Election Day.

Another proposed amendment requires that the board of elections
shall be a necessary party 1n any proceeding to compel the registra-
tion of a voter or to caucel the registration of a voter and the board
shall receive such notice of the proceeding as the court, justice or
judge shall direct.

Article IT, Sees. 2 and 5 of the Constitution: A. Int. 2881, A. Pr.
3005, by Rabin; A. Int. 2909, A. Pr. 3033, by Mrs. Ten Eyck;
S. Tet. 2627, 8. Pr. 2793, by Van Lare.

The purpose of this concurrent resolution is to combine the two
separate proposals adopted last year with reference to absentee
registration and voting by the sick and disabled.

Re Article IT, sec. 2:

This amendment will permit qualified voters who may be unable
to appear personally at the polling place on Election Day because
of illness or physical disability, to apply for an absentee ballot.

At the present time such qualified voters have no way of obtain-
ing an absentee ballot because the Constitution restricts the right
to apply for an absentee ballot to those voters whose duties, occupa-
tion or business require them to be elsewhere on Election Day. This -
amendment will afford to many persons an opportunity to exer-
cise their right to vote who at the present time, through no fault
of their own, are unable to do so.
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Re Article I1, sec. 5:

The proposed amendment will permit certain voters now required
to apply in person for registration to do so without appearing in
person. The voters who will benefit by this proposed amendment
are those unable to appear personally for registration because of
illness or physical disability and those whose duties, occupation or
business require them to be outside of the State of New York. The
amendment will also apply to a member of the family of such voters
who aceompany them provided such member is a qualified voter, a
resident of the same election district and also if such member is
outside the county of such election district.

Many persons living in personal registration election districts
are disfranchised each year because of illness or physical disability
or because their duties, occupation or business require them to be
outside the State of New York at the time of registration. . These
persons are unable to appear personally for registration. ‘The effect
of this amendment will be to provide a means of registration for
such persons without having to appear personally.

Nore~—The method and proof required of such voters wiii be determined by
tgc Legislature, if and when the amendments are approved and become
effective.

An act to amend the election law to provide for the establishment
of a system of permanent personal regzistration on an optional
basis: S. Int. 1735, S. Pr. 2970, by MecCullough; A. Int. 2080,
A. Pr. 3377, by Goddard.

This bill adds a new Article 15 to the Election Law and amends
various provisions of the present sections of such law to provide a
system for the permanent perscnal registration of voters which,
under the terms of the bill, may be adopted on an optional basis
by the City of New York or by any county outside such city. A
more detailed diseussion of the provisions of the bill is contained
in the earlier part of this report.

Note.—After the filing of the report hereinbefore set forth, another bill was
introduced by ihe Committee, A. Int. 3269, A. Pr. 3781 by Rules. The bill
provides for « mandatory house to house canvass the first year after permanent
personal rgvisiration goes into effect and every two years thereafter. The
provision prohibiting inspectors of election from serving as canvassers in the
house to house check was also eliminated. This bill was enacted into law by
the Governor and became Chapter 532.
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MINORITY REPORT

To the Legislature:

The members of the Joint Committee to Study the Election Law
were unanimous in the convietion that the State’s systems of regis-
tration for voting need overhauling. Even the majority report
reveals that the problem ‘‘required immediate consideration.’’

The minority members of the Committee proposed a true and
comprehensive overhaul of the registration machinery in the entire
State.

We urge a system of mandatory state-wide permanent personal
registration, whereby a voter anywhere in the State would register
in person but once, then remain registered so long as he or she did
not move his or her residence, did not commit a felony, ana voted
.at least once in four years. We now respectfully urge that this
type of legislation be adopted by the Legislature and have jointly
introduced identical measures, the Marro-Travia Rill (Senate Pr.
2028 and Assembly Pr. 2173).

This bill provides for a state-wide uniform system of PPR to
supplant both systems now in effect:

(a) the one in cities and villages of mere than 5,000 population
and in incorporated areas, where the voter is required to re-register
every year m order to vote, this being called ‘‘annual personal
registration,’” and

(b) The one in non-incorporated areas, the so-called ‘‘non-
personal annual’’ type of registvation where the voter need never
appear in person to register or to stay registered from year fo year.

Such non-personal reglsh ation is no more suited to the demands
of the twentieth century than the cobblestone streets that were in
vogue at the time of its inception. So lax and poorly designed is
this ancient remnant in our Election Law that the integrity of the
State’s elections has been seriously jeopardized by it for years.
It permits of listing of voters by proxy, and so carcless has been
its applicatioir inn many areas of the State that names of ‘‘registered
and qualified voters’’ have remained on the registration lists for
years aftes the voters had actually moved or even had died. Such
method provides virtually no safeguards.

There is no police check as to whether the registrant whose name
is put on the list by proxy actually exists, no mail check of any
sort to ascertain his residence in the area, indeed no identification
whatsoever as to personal appearance, former voting place or
employment and no signature asked of the voter for comparison
with his handwriting when he signs for his ballot on Election Day.
Even when operated most scrupulously and efficiently, such system
is but thinly protected against fraud; and when operated carelessly,
malodorous situations can arise and have.

The minority members of the committee are unequivoecally
opposed to local option as an approach to our State’s registration
tangle. Its net effect is diseriminatory. Citizens in one part of the
State will not have registration conveniences that citizens in other
parts will enjoy. -
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The demonstration value of a so-called ‘‘pilot run’ of PPR in
some ecounties of the State has been touted as of great value in win-
ning support for PPR in other counties. We regard this as an
evasion of the basic problem. Sinece PPR is in use in 41 states we
already have before us 41 demonstrations of how PPR works. Sinece
these states embrace such cities as Chicago, San Francisco, Phila-
delphia, towns and even tiny hamlets, and areas from the suburban
to the strietly rural type, they are more demonstrative of how PPR
works under circumstances of all sorts than would be a ‘“pilot run’’
in one county in New York State. Indeed, the PPR measure which
we have introduced is based on studies of PPR as it operates in all
sorts of eommunities throughout the country, and has extracted
the best from these systems.

The bill sponsored by the majority members, the 1fcCullough-
Goddard bill, is not a true permanent personal registration bill. It
 does not assure to a single individual in the State the convenience
~and benefits of permanent personal registration. We emphasize
the fact that even if such bill is passed, PPR wwsuld still not be the
law in the State. It merely provides that cach city and county
then has the option of enacting PPR for itself.

The Mc¢Cullough-Goddard bill is so weighted with expensive and
unnecessary duplications, that it is sare to be unattractive to any
city or county. The effect of the h:li wonld be to stifle and destroy
the putting into effect and operation of PPR; a system which the
majority members agree is necessary.

The requirement of housz to house canvass by two inspectors and
a mail check twice each yuaor, all to be paid by the locality, in addi-
tion to a police check =t transfers and removals, is too expensive
and would in effect, be a deterrent to adoption of the plan by any
county or eity. The provision for a two-year purge instead of
every four years will result in additional expense to the locality.

The freezing of the number of election districts on the basis of
the present annual registration distriets is an unnecessary saddling
of an expeuse, when many of such districts could be consolidated
for the sake of cutting down unnecessary costs.

The Marro-Travia bill, sponsored by the minority members of
the committee, provides for an economie, efficient and orderly sys-
tem of true state-wide permanent personal registration which will
meet the mandate of the people expressed at the polls in 1938, and
is in basic accord with the great majority of the individuals and
representatives of groups who testified at the public hearings held
by the committee.

Respectfully submitted,

Josepa R. MARRoO,
ANTHONY J. TrRAVIA

Albany, New York, March 3, 1954.
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what 1t 1s. If somebody says no, I don't care if you're the former
President 1t still means no. And if you do it anyway, that's rape.

So I commend the sponsor for her work on this and
I'm pleased to vote in the affirmative for it again.

ACTING SPEAKER AUBRY: Mrs. Peoples-Stokes
in the affirmative.

Mr. Goodell.

MR. GOODELL: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Please
record the following colleagues in the negative ¢n this bill: Marjorie
Byrnes, Mr. DiPietro, Mr. Fitzpatrick, Mr. Friend, Mr. Gallahan, Mr.
Hawley, Mr. McDonough and Mr. Taguic.

Thank you, sir.

ACTING SPEAKER AUBRY: So noted.

MR. GOODELL: Also sir, please add to that list Mr.
Brabenec in the negatve and Mr. Smith.

Thank you, sir.

ACTING SPEAKER AUBRY: You're quite
welcome.

Are there any other votes? Announce the results.

(The Clerk announced the results.)

The bill 1s passed.

Going to the A-Calendar, page 3, Rules Report No. 6,
the Clerk will read.

THE CLERK: Assembly No. A08432-A, Rules

Report No. 6, Dinowitz, Kelles, Sillitti, Lavine, Abinanti, Paulin,
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Simon, Seawright, Steck, Fernandez, Burgos, Englebright, Galef,
Gottfried, Cruz. An act to amend the Election Law, in relation to
absentee voting in village elections; to amend Chapter 139 of the
Laws of 2020 amending the Election Law relating to absentee voting,
in relation to the effectiveness thereof; and providing for the repeal of
certain provisions upon expiration thereof.

ACTING SPEAKER AUBRY: On a motion by Mr.
Diowitz, the Senate bill 1s before the House. The Senate bill 1s
advanced.

Mr. Norris.

MR. NORRIS: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. Will the
sponsor yield for a couple of questions, please?

ACTING SPEAKER AUBRY: Mr. Dinowitz, will
you yield?

MR DINOWITZ: Yes, I will.

ACTING SPEAKER AUBRY: The sponsor yields.

MR. NORRIS: Thank you, Chairman Dinowitz.
Since the last time we debated this bill a lot of circumstances have
changed. I remember doing it actually at my kitchen table. You may
have been doing the same thing because there were very few members
in this Chamber when we passed the first bill. My question 1s, it's not
a very long bill. The language 1s very, very open-ended.

MR. DINOWITZ: I'm sorry, could you talk a little
more loudly, please?

MR. NORRIS: Yes, I'd be happy to, Chair Dinowitz.
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MR. DINOWITZ: Thank you.

MR. NORRIS: The -- the bill language 1s not very
long. So my question to you are three parts: One, it says unable to
appear. How would you define that under this proposed legislation?

MR. DINOWITZ: There are many people who
because of the virus are concerned about going to a crowded public
place, and as a result they would be unable to appear.

MR. NORRIS: Would that apply for, like, a
lockdown, a shelter in place or anybody who just doesn't want to
appear physically at the polling site?

MR. DINOWITZ: We have a lot of people - when I
say "we," I mean me and you and everybody else here - who are
concerned about going to a voiing -- [ mean, a polling place very often
has a crowd, has lines and all that. And inevitably, there are some
people who -- who miay not vote even though they would like to,
because they're concerned about catching COVID. Especially now
that we're geing through a period when there -- there's a variant that 1s
so extraordinarily transmissible. Now, we don't know what conditions
are going to be like in June or November. We just don't know.
Hopefully, things will be better. I mean, I like when people go out to
vote in person. [ meet them on the street, I -- I -- you know, election
year and the whole bit. You can't do that when people vote absentee
but that's not the point here. The point here 1s we want to do
everything we can to, in a legitimate way, give people the means to

cast their vote. That's the essence of democracy, people voting. And
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no one should lose their vote because they're afraid of catching the
virus. And that's what this bill addresses. So I -- and we did this last
year, and a lot of people took advantage of it. Particularly older
people, because those were the people who were probably more likely
to be afraid of going out. And it was -- it was a huge success, I think.
And since the numbers are still so high, it makes sense to continue it
through this year.

MR. NORRIS: Now, in terms of the 1llness, does the
voter themselves have to have the illness?

MR. DINOWITZ: I'm sorry. Say it again, please.

MR. NORRIS: Do --ii terms of the word "1llness,"
does the voter themselves have to have the illness?

MR. DINOWI{TZ: No, that's not what the bill says.
The bill says, Provided that for the purposes of this paragraph
"illness" shall include but not be limited to instances where a voter is
unable to appear personally at a polling place of the election district
in which they're a qualified voter because there's a risk of contacting
or spreading a disease that may cause illness to the voter or to other
members of the public. So 1t's not just about protecting the voter, it's
about also protecting everybody else. That's why we wear a mask.
We wear a mask not only to protect us, but to protect you, to protect
these people.

MR. NORRIS: I -- I happened to look up in the
Webster Dictionary the word "illness" as defined as a sickness or an

unhealthy condition of body or mind for that individual. So I just
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want to make sure, if I have -- this doesn't just apply for COVID,
right? This would apply for the flu, a cold, any other disease?

MR. DINOWITZ: Yeah, it doesn't specifically say
COVID. It's slightly more general than that.

MR. NORRIS: Okay, so -- so if I have a fear of
getting a cold from somebody else, then under your bill someone
could get an absentee ballot because they're afraid of getting a cold?

MR. DINOWITZ: Well, I don't know about you, but
I don't personally define a cold as an illness. It's like -- I mean, it's a
sniffle. Ithink we're talking about things l:ke COVID. It could be --
maybe 1t could be chicken pox, I don't know. But the point 1s 1s that
we -- we wanted to make it a little more general so as to take into
account the contingency of -- of -- whereby there might be some --
something else that goes on this year along the lines of COVID.

MR. NORRIS: So I just want to be clear, though.
So, if someone is fearful of getting a disease -- it be a cold, it could be
the flu, couid be COVID, could be anything -- then through the end of
the year they could apply for an absentee ballot and receive one
because they might be afraid to get a cold from somebody else.

MR. DINOWITZ: I--1wouldn't put it that way. I
mean we know very well that we're talking about COVID here. But
we wanted to use language that was a little bit more general than that.
We -- we are -- we are still in the midst of this pandemic. I mean,
thankfully the numbers in New York City are going down now, but

I'm not sure we can say the same about the rest of the State,
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unfortunately. Hopefully that will happen as well. We don't know
that there won't be another variant down the road. Hopefully that
won't happen, but we have to be prepared for it. I think we would all
agree 1n this room that we want to see every possible person who is
eligible to vote to vote. We don't want anybody to not vote because
they're worried about catching COVID. And -- and that holds true in
all of our districts, whether a Democratic district or Republican
district. You have, I'm sure, plenty of constituents who voted by
absentee ballot under the special rules that we passed in 2021 and who
would be very happy to take advantage of 1t again in 2022. And I
think there will be a lot of people who are going to be very upset if
they can't do that.

MR. NORRIS. Did you think about doing it on a
piecemeal basis? Maybe tarough the village elections and not through
the end of the year or -- we're going to be here until June, beginning of
June. Did you think about doing that right to the end of the year?

MR. DINOWITZ: I'm sorry, doing it for the --

MR. NORRIS: For the village elections. Just do it
now for the village elections and then see where we are come early in
the -- you know, early as we get further through May, June. We're
going to be here likely into the beginning of June. Why -- why are we
doing this to the end of the year?

MR. DINOWITZ: Well, that wouldn't be very
efficient to have to do it again, would 1t? Either we're here --

MR. NORRIS: Things -- things are changing on a
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regular basis. I mean, the last time we debated this bill was the
summer of 2020. Not last year. And since then we've had a vaccine,
people are vaccinated. People are now 1in stadiums -- [ want to get this
on the record because, you know, the Buffalo Bills had over 60,000
people in the stadium just this past week. And I'm very happy about
it, by the way.

MR. DINOWITZ: That's good.

MR. NORRIS: We -- we won the game, we're going
to win the next game and many more.

MR. DINOWITZ: Well, that's the only good part.
But 60,000 people getting together 1s it too bright, in my opinion.

MR. NORRIS: But people are doing it. They're out
and about, they're going to the movies, they're going to restaurants.
They're -- they're moving about their business.

MR. DINOWITZ: They are --

MR. NORRIS: Certainly, that could change.

MR. DINOWITZ: Exactly. And the COVID rates
are huge in -- in many parts of New York. Coincidence? I think not.

MR. NORRIS: Okay. So I want to ask you another
question. So, this -- this would apply to everybody, right? So it
would apply potentially to waitresses and waiters who are waiting on
people all day long who are seated without their mask. Would that be
correct? Would they be eligible to receive an absentee ballot under
your proposed bill?

MR. DINOWITZ: If they're registered to vote, yes.
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MR. NORRIS: Okay. They -- they would be.
Cashiers --

MR. DINOWITZ: If we thought there was a need we
could repeal this, but it makes more -- it makes more sense to pass this
and then 1if for some bizarre reason we would want to repeal it, we
could do that. But to pass it for a limited period of time and then have
to do it again before the end of Session, to me, makes no sense at all
being that we like to be efficient here.

MR. NORRIS: Isee. Now, in terms of, like, a
candidate 1f they wanted to challenge the -- the verification of the
absentee ballot application, would they be able to do that? What
proof would be required of the voter who applies for an absentee
ballot under this circumstancz”

MR. DINOWITZ: It'll be no different than any other
application for an abzentee ballot. People have been applying for
absentee ballots before I was borm, I'm sure. And I don't know what --
I mean, th:s past year I happened to -- I filled out an application for an
absentee ballot. I ultimately didn't use it. I-- I went online,
(inaudible) whatever. They sent me the absentee ballot. I didn't have
to show any proof. They -- they looked me up, I was registered to
vote and I got my absentee ballot in the mail.

MR. NORRIS: (Inaudible) good challenges, like if
they say, I'm going to be in college, I'm going to be out of the county.
They could say, Where's your plane ticket? A -- a candidate

theoretically could do that. They could challenge the absentee ballot
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application. So what I'm asking for, would -- just to be clear, there
would be no proof required, you just check the box and then the Board
of Elections will send you a ballot.

MR. DINOWITZ: As far as I understand the law,
there would be no difference -- difference between what we do and
what we would do 1f this passes. There wouldn't be any additional
proof. I mean, I -- I did not have to submit any proof whatsoever to
get my absentee ballot. Period.

MR. NORRIS: My point was that someone could
challenge the ballot. Now that's why -- or the absentee ballot
application. And what -- I just want to know what proof is there.

MR. DINOWITZ: Why would somebody want to
challenge an absentee ballot? Why would somebody want to deprive
somebody of the ability to vote? That doesn't seem to be consistent
with a democracy. You want people to vote. You want people to be
able to vote, and this would help that happen.

MR. NORRIS: Okay. Now I want to ask you
another question. Last year there was a referendum on the ballot for
no excuse absentee voting.

MR. DINOWITZ: Correct.

MR. NORRIS: It basically allowed everybody who
wanted to get an absentee ballot application the opportunity to get a
ballot.

MR. DINOWITZ: That's right.

MR. NORRIS: The voters of the State of New York,
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from the election results that I saw, by over 300,000 people said, No,
we do not want no excuse absentee balloting in the State of New York.
That's what they said. They voted that way.

MR. DINOWITZ: They did, after a very expensive
campaign. But yes, they did --

MR. NORRIS: Oh, they did?

MR. DINOWITZ: -- (inaudible), and as a result that
ballot proposal was defeated.

MR. NORRIS: All right. Now my next question,
would that have included voters who applicd for an absentee ballot
under the temporary voters provision uiider your bill before?

MR. DINOWITZ: There's actually --

MR. NORRIS. (Inaudible) voters -- did it actually --

MR. DINOWITZ: Let me -- let me -- I just happen to
have this with me.

MR. NORRIS: Great.

MR. DINOWITZ: This 1s what the ballot -- what 1t
said on the ballot, okay? It said, The proposed amendment would
delete from the current provision on absentee ballots the requirement
that an absentee ballot voter -- an absentee voter must be unable to
appear at the polls by reason of absence of the country or illness or
physical disability shall the proposed amendment be approved. This
has nothing to do -- well, it has a little bit to do, but this 1s not the
same as what we're doing here. This simply says you can get an

absentee ballot under any and all circumstances without having a
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reason. This legislation 1s much narrower than that. If it was exactly
the same, I don't know that that would be necessarily appropriate
because, as you said, the voters voted. But the voters voted on this.
They didn't vote on that. What we do here 1s a much more narrow set
of circumstances, and it only allows the absentee ballots in -- in
specific circumstances. That's not what the referendum was. The
referendum was for no excuse absentee ballots. That's not this.

MR. NORRIS: So in terms of the -- the -- your --
your legislation that's going forward right now, could anybody in the
State of New York receive an absentee ballot by checking the
temporary illness box with no proof? They just say, I'm afraid of
getting the cold -- a cold and check the box.

MR. DINOWITZ: Yeabh, just like they do now.

MR. NOKRIS: So that's like no excuse absentee.

MR. DINOWITZ: That's not no excuse. That --
there 1s an excuse, they're afraid of catching COVID. That's the
excuse. That's not no excuse, that's excuse.

MR. NORRIS: Yeah. Okay.

I'll like to go on the bill, Mr. -- Mr. Dinowitz, thank
you very much for answering my question. I appreciate it.

MR. DINOWITZ: Sure.

MR. NORRIS: Mr. Speaker.

ACTING SPEAKER AUBRY: On the bill, sir.

MR. NORRIS: Thank you very much. On the bill.

Since we voted on this bill in the summer of 2020, a lot of things have
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ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PETITION FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM UNDER ARTICLE 16 OF THE
ELECTION LAW

“Election Law § 16—106(1) provides courts with authority to review ‘[a] board's decision
to canvass or refuse to canvass a particular ballot during the canvass.”” Carr v. Kepi, 198 A.D.3d
847 (2d Dep’t 2021). Here, Petitioners do not cite to a specific boards’ decision to canvass or
refuse to canvass a specific ballot because the entirety of the Petition is speculative. Indeed,
Petitioners do not even name a particular county board of elections as a party to this action. As it
stands, there is no error by a county board of elections for the Court to correct under Article 16 of
the Election Law. Stewart v. Rockland Cnty. Bd. of Elections, 41 Misc. 3d 1238(A), 983 N.Y.S.2d
206 (Sup. Ct. Rockland Cty. 2013), aff'd, 112 A.D 34 866 (2d Dep’t 2013) (“Furthermore, it is
well-settled that in a summary proceeding such as this one, brought pursuant to Election Law
Article 16, the [Supreme Court's] only pewers are (1) to determine the validity of protested, blank
or void paper ballots and protested or rejected absentee ballots and to direct a recanvass or
correction of any error in the carnvass of such ballots . . . and (2) to review the canvass and direct
a recanvass or correctionr of an error or performance of any required duty by the board of
canvassers.”). As such, this action is improperly before the Court under Article 16.

Accordingly, the relief sought by Petitioners pursuant to Article 16 should be

denied, and the Petition should be dismissed.

2 Even if, arguendo, this proceeding was properly brought pursuant to Article 16, the relief
sought in the Petition should still be denied, and the Petition dismissed, for the reasons
discussed at Point II below.



POINT II

PETITIONERS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO PRELIMINARY INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
AND THE PETITION SHOULD BE DISMISSED

To the extent that the OSC seeks a preliminary injunction within the context of Petitioners’
alleged declaratory judgment claim commenced pursuant to CPLR 3001, Petitioners are not
entitled to such relief. For the same reasons, the Petition should be dismissed as against the State
of New York and Governor Hochul.

A preliminary injunction is a “drastic remedy” that should be issued “sparingly.” Kuttner
v. Cuomo, 147 A.D.2d 215, 218 (3d Dep’t 1989). To prevail on a imotion for a preliminary
injunction, the moving party must establish by clear and convincing evidence: “(1) the likelihood
of success on the merits; (2) irreparable injury absent granting the preliminary injunction; and (3)
a balancing of the equities.” Id.; County of Suffolk v. Givens, 106 A.D.3d 943, 944 (2d Dep’t 2013).
“To warrant preliminary injunctive relief, the irreparable harm alleged must be immediate,
specific, nonspeculative and nonconclusery.” Grumet v. Cuomo, 162 Misc. 2d 913, 929-930 (Sup.
Ct. Albany Cty. 1994) (citing Matter of New York State Inspection, Sec. & Law Enforcement
Employees v. Cuomo, 64 N.Y.2d 233 (1984)).

Petitioners “who seek preliminary relief providing all the relief sought as final judgment
bear an even heavier burden in demonstrating their entitlement to such relief.” Grumet, 162 Misc.
2d at 929 (quoting, Russian Church of Our Lady of Kazan v. Dunkel, 34 A.D.2d 799, 801 (2d
Dep’t. 1970)). Such injunctions, “‘if granted at all, are granted with great caution and only when
required by urgent situations or grave necessity, and then only on the clearest of evidence. It is the
policy of this court not to grant such relief when the plaintiff's ultimate right involved is in doubt.”
Id. at 929 (quoting, Russian Church of Our Lady of Kazan, 34 A.D.2d at 801). Here, Petitioners

fail to carry their burden. First, Petitioners fail to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits.



Second, Petitioners’ claims of irreparable injury are speculative and conclusory. Third, the balance
of equities does not tip in its favor.

For the same reasons that Petitioners cannot establish a likelihood of success on the merits,
see Point II(A), infra, the Petition should be dismissed as against Defendants State of New York
and Governor Hochul pursuant to CPLR 3211 (a)(7) & (8).

A. Petitioners Fail to Demonstrate that they are Likely to Succeed on the Merits.

Petitioners fail to establish, by “clear and convincing evidence,” a likelihood of success on
the merits. Instead, as set forth below, (1) the Court lacks personal jurisdiction over the State of
New York and Governor Hochul; (2) Governor Hochul is immune¢ from suit; (3) the doctrine of
laches bars Petitioners’ claims; and (4) Petitioners fail to allege (liat the amendments to the election
law are unconstitutional. For these reasons, the Petitioii should be dismissed as to the State of

New York and Governor Hochul.

1. The Court Does Not Have Personai Jurisdiction Over the State of New York or
Governor Hochul on Petitioner’s t>eclaratory Judgment Claim.

Petitioners have not obtained personal jurisdiction over the State of New York or Governor
Hochul for purposes of their ¢lenary action because they have not been served with a summons,
summons with notice or complaint. A plenary action, such as a declaratory judgment action, is
commenced by the filing of a summons and complaint or summons with notice. CPLR 304(a).
No summons, summons with notice or complaint has been served on the State of New York or
Governor Hochul. Affidavit of Danny McDonald, § 4. As aresult, Petitioners have failed to obtain
personal jurisdiction over these Defendants and therefore no declaratory judgment action is
presently proceeding against them. Collins v. Village of Head-of-the-Harbor, 2018 N.Y. Misc.
LEXIS 1409, **14-15 (Sup. Ct. Suffolk Cty. Feb. 15, 2018) (““in hybrid actions-proceedings the

pleading [should] be served with both a summons and notice of petition...The summons invokes



jurisdiction for the declaratory-judgment-action component while the notice of petition performs
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the same function for the Article 78 aspect of the case’” (quoting Alexander, Practice Commentary,
McKinney’s Cons Laws of NY, 2016 Electronic Update, CPLR 7804)).

Accordingly, Petitioners have failed to obtain personal jurisdiction over the State of New
York or Governor Hochul for purposes of their plenary action. As a result, to the extent that
Petitioners seek a preliminary injunction in connection with that action, such relief is not available.

Additionally, the Petition is currently subject to dismissal pursuant to CPLR 3211(a)(8), making

Petitioners not likely to succeed on the merits of any of their claims.

2. Governor Hochul is Entitled to Legislative Immunity.

“[TThe United States Supreme Court has ruled that ithere is a common law immunity
applicable to state and local legislators, similar to that provided to members of Congress under the
United States Constitution (Art. I, § 6), that alsc grants immunity to members of the executive
branch ‘when they perform legislative functions.”” Larabee v. Spitzer, 19 Misc. 3d 226, 237 (Sup.
Ct. New York Cty. 2008), aff'd sub non:., 65 A.D.3d 74 (1* Dep’t 2009). Here, the Petition’s only
reference to Governor Hochul is her signing into law the challenged sections of Election Law,
Petition 9 23, which is clearly a legislative function. Id. (referring to the signing of a bill as a
“legislative function” which would require dismissal on immunity grounds). Accordingly,
Petitioner’s claims against Governor Hochul are barred and should be dismissed pursuant to CPLR
3211(a)(7). As aresult, Petitioners are not likely to succeed on the merits of their claims against

Governor Hochul.
3. The Present Application is Barred by the Doctrine of Laches.
Petitioners’ challenges to the constitutionality of Chapter 763 (and the other attendant

extraordinary relief they seek herein) is barred by the doctrine of laches. “Laches bars recovery



where a plaintiff’s inaction has prejudiced the defendant and rendered it inequitable to permit
recovery. " Airco Alloys Division, Airco Inc. v. Niagara Mohawk Power Corp., 76 A.D.2d 68, 82
(4th Dept 1980).

Laches is “an equitable bar, based on a lengthy neglect or omission to assert a right and the
resulting prejudice to an adverse party.” Amedure, et al. v. State of New York, CV-22-1955 (3d
Dept. Nov. 1, 2022), Reif v. Nagy, 175 A.D.3d 107, 130 (1st Dep’t 2019) (quoting Saratoga County
Chamber of Commerce v. Pataki, 100 N.Y. 2d 801, 816 (2003)). To show prejudice, a defendant
must show reliance and change of position from the delay. /d. Here, the prejudice that would stem
from Petitioners’ belated challenge to the amendments to the Election Law for canvassing is
manifest.

If Petitioners’ challenge was allowed, thousands of voters would be disenfranchised, and
it is unclear if any pending election could timelv move forward. Petitioners fail to provide any
explanation as to why they sat on their “rights .

Further, Petitioners waited for ricarly two (2) years after the Governor signed the 2021
amendment to Election Law § @-209 before commencing this action. As the Third Department
recently observed in another election case, “[s]uch delay was entirely avoidable and undertaken
without any reasonable explanation.” Matter of League of Women Voters, 206 A.D.3d 1227, 1230
(3d Dep’t 2022) (dismissing, based on laches, petition/complaint challenging constitutionality of
redrawn map of assembly districts, which was commenced five weeks before primary); see also
Matter of Nichols v. Hochul, 206 A.D.3d 463, 464 (1st Dep’t June 10, 2022), Iv. dismissed, 38
N.Y.3d 1053 (2022) (same). “[E]lection matters are exceedingly time sensitive and protracted
delays of this nature impose impossible burdens upon respondent [the State Board of Elections],

who is obligated to comply with the strict timelines set forth in the Election Law.” Matter of
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League of Women Voters,206 A.D.3d at 1230. Having failed to act promptly in bringing this claim,
Petitioners are not entitled to force last-minute changes to election procedures.

Indeed, the Third Department found that the Petitioners’ previously filed case making
nearly identical allegations was barred by laches after a nine month delay, much less a delay of
nearly two years. See generally, Amedure, et al. v. State of New York, CV-22-1955 (3d Dept. Nov.
1,2022).

The proposed relief would cause yet more delay and add to the already formidable
logistical challenges faced by the State and local boards of elections associated with the updated
canvassing and absentee ballot process. Therefore, Petitioners are not likely to succeed on the

merits of their claims based on an application of the doctrine o: iaches.

4. Petitioners Fail to Present a Constitutional Challenge to the Amendments of
Election Law § 9-209.

Petitioners offer a series of challenges ¢ the constitutionality of the amendments to § 9-
209, arguing that the statute, as amended, impermissibly interferes with the constitutionally
protected rights of citizens, electors, candidates, and political parties to engage in the political
process, and contends that the siatute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied on the basis that
(1) the Legislature exceeded its authority in enacting the statute; (2) the statute is inconsistent with
and in direct conflict with the New York State Constitution and other provisions of the Election
Law; (3) the statute impermissibly interferes with Petitioners’ rights to free speech and free
association as guaranteed by the New York State Constitution; (4) the statute impermissibly opens
the election process to the counting of “invalid and improper” votes; and (5) the statute is
unconstitutionally vague. See generally Petition.

Petitioners spend a greater part of their Petition reiterating the same conclusory arguments,

insisting that the amendments to § 9-209 unconstitutionally impair the rights of voters, candidates,
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political parties, and commissioners of elections. Petition, 44 48-128. They also contend that the
statute infringes on the power of judicial oversight. /Id., 99 129-144. Indeed, many of Petitioners’
allegations represent mischaracterizations or misunderstandings of the law coupled with
theoretical scenarios not based in reality. Nearly all of Petitioners’ allegations are speculative and
prospective, and there is no indication in the current record before the Court that any of the
scenarios (fraudulent votes, dead voters, etc.) are grounded in fact.

First, with respect to the right of the voter, Petitioners allege that § 9-209 “interferes with
the voters’ ability to exercise their rights of Free Speech and Free Association guaranteed by the
New York State Constitution under . . . Article I, §§ 8, 9 by [ ] not allowing them to change their
minds on the day of the election.” Petition, § 57. This is patentiy false. While sections 8 and 9 of
the Constitution do protect an individual’s rights to frec speech and free association, there is no
constitutionally protected right to change your mind. Section 9-209 simply sets forth a procedure
providing that, if an individual requests an absentee ballot and uses that absentee ballot, he or she
cannot then show up on a polling place and vote a second time. N.Y. Elec. Law § 9-209(2)(d).
Indeed, § 9-209 aims to protect against the “fraudulent actions™ Petitioner argues is “assured” by
the new provision. To be sure, [o]ther states follow New York’s rule that once a voter opts to vote
by absentee, the voter cannot then validly vote on election day on a voting machine in person.”
Id. Petitioners fail to allege that § 9-209 infringes upon voters’ rights.

Second, as to the rights of candidates and political parties, Petitioners contend that § 9-209
deprives political candidates and political parties of due process as poll watchers are unable to
object and be heard. Petition, § 94. To the contrary, however, Section 9-209 provides for two
occasions wherein watchers may object to the validity of a ballot: (1) “[a]t the meeting required

pursuant to paragraph (a) of subdivision eight of this section, each candidate, political party, and
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independent body shall be entitled to object to the board of elections' determination that an affidavit
ballot is invalid”; and (2) at post-election review, where “[e]ach such candidate, political party,
and independent body shall be entitled to object to the board of elections' determination that a
ballot is invalid. Such ballots shall not be counted absent an order of the court.” N.Y. Elec. Law
§ 9-209 (7)(4)s (8)(©).

Third, Petitioner alleges that § 9-209 prevents commissioners of elections from performing
their duties of “ruling on a poll watcher’ s objection [ ] as to the result in the invalidation of any
ballot” and “investigat[ing] the validity of applications and ballots issued.” Petition, § 105. “Every
commissioner in each board of elections except for commissioners o7 the board of elections of the
city of New York, may approve and at pleasure remove a depu.y, establish his title and prescribe
his duties.” N.Y. Elec. Law § 3-300 (emphasis added). Accordingly, per statute, a local elections
commissioner sets his or her own duties; they are not prescribed by law. To the extent that
Petitioner argues that the statute goes againsi an election commissioner’s preferred moral code,
because an individual is unhappy with a change in law does not automatically translate to a
constitutional violation. Even so, the alleged inability to make a ruling and/or ‘“‘associate
him/herself with the arguinents advanced by a poll watcher/objector” does not amount to a
constitutional violation.

Fourth, Petitioners allege that § 9-209 “impermissibly comprises voters’ rights to have a
secret ballot.” Petition, § 112. Petitioners’ allegations are nonsensical and not based in reality.
Section 9-209 sets forth extensive procedures to ensure the secrecy of the ballots, and the sheer
fact that ballots are canvassed on a rolling basis does not stray from that goal. Petitioners contend

that ‘nothing can stop poll watchers (or election personnel present at canvass) from keeping a tally
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the Supreme Court, held in and for the County of Saratoga, at the Saratoga County Court House,
Ballston Spa, New York on September 20, 2023 at 2:30 p.m., as directed by Order to Show Cause
dated September 8, 2023, for an order pursuant to CPLR 403(b) and CPLR 3211(a)(8), dismissing
the Petition-Complaint in its entirety and for any further relief that the Court deems just, proper
and equitable.

Dated: Albany, New York
September 18, 2023
LETITIA JAMES
Attorney General, State of New York
Attorney for Respondents-Defendants State of
New York and Governor Kathy Hochul
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